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THE FIRST MINT OF THE MEXICAN INSURGENTS 

The First Mint Of The Mexicon Insurgents 

Where, whe:n and who established the first mint of the " lnsurgentes"? 
Dr. A. F. Pradeau in his Numismat ic History of Mexico, publis hed by the 

Banco de Mexico, S. A. translated into Spanish ( Historia Numismatica 
de Mex ico) by Roman Beltran Martinez states on page 98 of the English 
version and on page 163 of the Spanish translation: 

THE FIRST INSURGENT MINT 

On O ctober 4, 1810, six days after the victorious Hidalgo 
forces had taken Guanajuato, the head of the emancipation move­
ment was informed by Don Jose Mariano Robles, Paymaster­
General of the Army, that while the treasury had over half a 
million pesos in silver bullion, coined money was extremely scarce. 
(Zamacois, Historia de M exico, Vol. VI_ pp. 426-427). 

As the shortage of money was acute, H idalgo sought the 
advice of the leading men of the town, and after lenghty delibera­
tion, it was decided that the best way out was to establish a mint, 
wherein the bar silver on hand could be coined. Hidalgo approved 
the plan, and the directorship of this first Mexican mint was 
entrustPd to Don Jose Mariano R obles. 

1't:e building chosen for the mint was an ore4educing plant 
located at the S an Pedro Hacienda. the property of Don Joaquin 
Pelaez. H idalgo himself furnished the drawings and specifications 
for the construction of the minting machinery. 

The adaptation of the old building and the construction of 
the mint machinery began October 9, 1810, and proceeded with 
such rapidity and skill that by the end of O ctober, limited minting 
operations were started. 
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D. MIGUEL HIDALGO Y COSTILLA, Priest of Dolores, FATHER OF 

OUR COUNTRY " ... Hidalgo was good looking, medium built swarthy, 
bright-eyed, solft-voiced, a pleasent talker, 'corteous; he did not show 
11t first his wisdom, but soon could be seen that he was a man of 

knowledge; he was fiery, enterpriser as well as violent .. . " 

Carlos Maria de Bustamante 
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D. JOSE MARIA MORELOS, priest of Carac uaro, SERVANT Or OUR 
COUNTRY " . . . Morelos was a man o f action, good horseman, strong 
arm - people's hero, gentleman of an ideal and pursuer of hope -

man of husky appearance and strong heart - a hero sculptured 
In bronze ... " 

Salvador Pineda. 
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W hen the royalists re-entered G uanajuato, November 25, 
1810, the installation of the newly constructed minting machinery 
was nearly complete and it was so perfect that the Spanish author~ 
ities ordered it sent to Mexico City, where it could be used as 
a model in the construction of similar machinery for future mints. 
(Mexico a Traves de los Siglos, Vol. III, pp. 122-123.) 

Several counterfeiters among the prisoners in the jail of 
Guanajuato when the insurgents entered the town, were employed 
in the mint and a young ironsmith of notable ability made the 
dies. 

The first coins issued were similar in every respect to those 
of the Mexico City mint, even to the assayer's initials. The repro~ 
duction was so perfect that Bustamante (Cuadra Hist6rico, Vol. 
1, pp. 7 and 47) asserts detection was impossible. 

This accounts for the total absence of known pieces of 
this first insurgent mint in any contemporary collection. The 
reasons for imitating the coinage of New Spain were, primarily, 
the psychological effect upon the timid populace, and secondly, 
the retention of the comparatively stable economic status. 

The Spanish edition contains various footnotes which show that Dr. 
Pradeau based his remarks on the "Historia de Mexico desde sus t iempos 
mas remotes hasta nuestros dias" (History of Mexico from the oldest times 
until the present date) by Niceto de Zamacois an other contemporary 
works. The translator adds "Zamacois, following Alaman ( loc. cit) stated 
that the machines built according to the designs in a "Dict ionary of Arts," 
were more perfect and better constructed that those in the Mint of Mex ico 
City". Further, "Among the prisioners, according to Alaman, there were 

several who were being prosecuted as forgers. These were enlisted to plan 

the establishment, and a young blacksmith who had shown s igns of being 

capable of steel engraving made the dies." Alaman adds that he himself 

forgot the name of this engraver but that when he was young, together with 

the sons of Riafio and Bernabe Bustamante, were taught to engrave dies. 

After carefully read ing the above, it wi ll readily be understood that it is 
not possib le to construct a mint in barely three weeks ". . . from October 
9th to the end of the same month .. . " And more particu lary if, according to 
Zamacois and Alaman, the project was started by building the machines from 
the designs of a "Dictionary of Arts." 



THE FIRST MINT OF THE MEXICAN INSURGENTS 7 

We cannot either accept what Bustamante states " ... the reproduction 
was so perfect in a ll senses ... " When one of the principal characteristics 
of the coins from the Prov,isional Mints was that of being badly made and inferior 
in appearance to those of the Mexico City Mint, and that too, af ter various 
years of experience. 

Wishing to follow up this matter because we cou ld not be happy about 
th is imag inary mint we consulted "Mexico a Traves de los Siglos" Vol. Ill 
(Mexico through the Centuries), and there were found the following: 
page 127 

" . . . Hida}ga raised \twa, !new in['antry ttegimel.nts, one on 
Valenciana to which he appointed the young Don Casimiro Chovell 
as Colonel, he was the administrator of the mine there. H e also 
appointed Don Jose Mariano Jimenez, a student of the School 
of Mines in Mexico City, and another student of the same school, 
Don R.afael Di.walos, who was doing his practical work in V a­
lenciana mine and who was a graduate in mathematics of the: 
college in Guanajuato. These two he a.opointed as Captain of 
Artillery, and Director of the cannon foundry which was im­
mediate! y stablished. The copper came from the '' capellinas" of 
the Spanish haciendas which were the copper cylinders used for 
collecting mercury vapor after it was used in the extraction process. 
(Alaman Historia de Mexico . Vol. 1. p. 118 ) The artillery pro­
duced by this foundry was, rather naturally, very imperfect and 
the same could be said of the rest the arms which were soon 
produced in the same place with patriotic enthusiasm under the 
control of Chovell and Davalos . .. " 

Page 128: 

" ... Hidalgo continued to busy himself with the question 
of supplies to satisfy the urgent needs of his powerful army grew 
larger and largez· after the assault on the Alh6ndiga de Grana­
ditas. The great quantity of silver bars captured in this building 
on the one hand and the extreme scarcity of coinage which was 
becoming serious at the time, naturally led to realize the need 
for a mint, which within a few days was completely finished 
in the Hacienda of San Pedro in charge of Don Jose Mariano 
R.obles. It was so perfectly set up that the machines in it, made 
by workmen of Guanajuato were later taken to lvlexico to improve 
those of Apartado or the mints of the King. Nothing was changed 
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in the type of fineness of the coins and they were so perfect that 
they were mistaken for the pesos and other coins struck in the 
capital (I) Cuadro Hist6rico de Bustamante, page 7). The ma~ 
chines, as well as those used in the casting of cannon were built 
according to the designs and instructions of a Dictionary of 
Arts. Which it is believed had be.en diligently studied years before 
by Hidalgo and which formed part of the library of Don Jose 
Maria Bustamante . .. " 

As we were not satisfied with this information we then consulted Bus­

tamante's work. which indeed has a name lonqer than lent. "An Historical 

Picture of the Mexican Revolution started on September 15th, 1810 by Citizen 

Miguel Hidalgo y Costi lla, priest of the village of Dolores in the bishopric 

of Michoacan. Dedicated to his Excellency Don Ignacio Trigueros Secre~ary 

of the Treasury Office." This edition of 1961 follows the text of the work 

printed by order of Chamber of Deputies of the Union in 1926. 

On page 42 we find the following: 

"General Hidalgo did not neglect the organization of the 
civil government . . . in this respect he order.ed the construction 
of a Mint in Guanajuato, a step which shows his practical acumen 
in believing that if the war were prolonged commerce would be 
paralised and currency would become scarce. The work was 
started in the Hacienda of San Pedro and [JUshed ahead so 
fast that in less than two months the machinery and necessary 
offices were almost finished. The coinage was so beautiful that 
it was confused with that of Mexico and the weights, testing 
machines, and implements of the mint were as well finished as 
those of the capital." 

Nevert hless we con t inued to be obstinate and could not accept the word 

of Bustamante and other contemporary writers until we could really prove 

the facts. More especially, after reading in "Mexico a Traves de los Siglos" 

that, ". . . the artillery and armaments which came from the foundry were, 

rather naturally, very imperfect ... " It is only natural to think that the 

machinery was also imperfect. Further, one author says that it was established 

in a few days; another in three weeks, and Bustamante in less than two 

months. 
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It's just not possible!!! 

Continuing our search to find out where, inC:eed the first mint of the 
"lnsurgentes" which really did strike coins was founded, we followed the 
"lnsurgentes" to Valladolid, Pradeau in the work mentioned, on page 164 
Spanish and 99 of the Eng lish edition says: 

VALLADOLID 

THE FIRST INSURGENT PROVISJ.ONAL COINS 

On October, 10, 1810, Hidalgo left Guanajuato and on 
October 15th entered Valladolid. There, he confiscated the vessels 
and objects of the church, from which several thousand dollars' 
worth of silver was obtained. This was melted and cast into 
irregularly square planchets, which, with the value stamped ott 

one side, circulated as money, Orozco y Berra, in his Diccionario 
de Historia y Geografia, Mexico, 1854, Vol. V, p. 926, describes 
these pieces and adds that they were stamped with letters P. V. 
for Provisiona.l Valladolid. Apparently, no one has actually seen 
a single specimen of this coinage. The author, during his investiga~ 
tions, interviewed a lv!exican family whose ancestors had resided 
in Guanajuato at the time of the War of Independence, and among 
a few trinkets which they had inherited, a piece of silver was 
found which to some extent conforms to the above description. 
It is cast, weighs twenty~five grammes, measures 31 x 35 x 2 milli~ 
meters. On one side appear the letters P. V. and just below, 8R. 
These characters, however, have not been stamped, but seem to 

have been in the original pattern from which the cast was made. 

The other side is plain, It shows no signs of wear and, according 

to the owner, had remained carefully wrapped from the day it 

was acquired. While there is a possibility that this planchet may 
be spurious, the author is inclined to accept its authenticity. 

(Pradeau's Numismatic History of Mexico Pl. Xl/1, 9.) 

In this chapter Pradeau speaks of another crime; a very serious one 
ecclesiastically commited by the "lnsurgentes" and endorsed by Hidalgo, 
" .. . There, he confiscated the vessels and objects of the church ... " "Mexico 
a Traves de los Siglos" does not mention this confiscation and Bustamante 
(page 63) only says the following about Valladolid: 
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"The priest Hidalgo conferred the civic command on Don 
Jose Maria de Anzorena and he was not mistaken in his choice ... 
·when the military preparations were finished and it was possible 
to continue the expedition, he took the money which was in the 
safe of the Cathedral, not only that of the tithe but also some 
sums which had been deposited there by various private persons 
for greater safety. He finally extracted $4 12.000 pesos, but a 
smaller part he left for the expenses of the Churh: he also took 
other sums from various other persons for only in this way could 
he provide for this enormous host which daily needed a great 

deal of money . .. " 

Hidalgo would have had to strike a very large quantity of coins to pay 
"the enormous host" men tioned by Bustamante. Fu r ther, as will be not iced, 
Bustamante mentions nothing about the confiscat ion of t he vases and another 
objects of the churches. 

The idea came to us as resul t of this supposed inc ident, to verify it in 
the record s of the Double Trial, c ivil and ecc lesiastical to which Hidalgo 
was subjected, fo r we fel t sure we would find someth ing, about it and, 
perhaps, something about the mint in Guanajuato. 

The book which we looked up has also very long name, "Causas For­
madas al Benemerito de Ia Patria, Miguel Hidalgo y Costil la por Ia lnquisi­
ci6n de Mexico y Ia Comadancia General de las Provincias lnternas de Chi­
huahua". (Trial of the Well-deserving of the country, Miguel Hidalgo y 

Costilla, by the In quisit ion of Mexico and the High Court of the Interior 
Provinces). Suplemented wi th important documen ts . Published in Mexico, D. F. 
in 1884. It has an introduct ion by Manuel A. Romo under the t ittle, "To 
whom this may read" which we copy: 

"The charges against the illustrious father of our I ndepend~ 
ence, the immortal Priest of Dolores, Don Miguel Hidalgo y 
Costilla, in this volume, have been taken from the invaluable 
collection of documents on the History of War of Independence 
in M exico, formed through the keen and idefatigable wodc of 
our friend J. E. Hernandez y Davalos, who has dedicated his life 
to raise this monument to National Glory and if there should be 
any person who might have any doubt about the documents which 
are included in. this volume, he should go and see the mentioned 
Senor Hernandez y Davalos who has th~ originals." 
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At the foot of the last page of this book, there is the following note whicn 
we conside r to be very important: "The documents published in this book 
have been produced to the letter, without any correction or alteration. 
Mexico, September, 1884. J. E. Hernandez y Davalos". 

We too have copied to the letter. 

It is worth mention ing that the original process of the Civil Authorities 
has 89 pages, whilst, that of the Holy Inquis ition is also very voluminou~, 
containing the fi rst process against Hidalgo in 1800 and the second of 53 
charges. Ramo says t hat after the death of Sr . Hida lgo the Inquisition 
closed the file without following the barbarous custom of bu rning him in 
effigy as was done in many cases. 

DOCUMENT No. 2 

THE STATEMENT OF THE PRIEST HJDALGCJ, IN t\q 

PAGES.-Book No. 13 Page 10. Item 6a. 

ASKED: 

If he knows or is aware as appears from what he and other . .; 
have stated, if in order to fu rther the rebellicn he has raised armies; 
has attacked or faced up to those of the King: has coined moneys 
made guns, arms, and ammunition: has appointed Generals, officers 
and all sorts of placemen: has seized the sources of income of the 
King, of the church, of tire Europeans and also of the "criollos ... 
because they would not support his party; because they would net 
adhere to him, deposed, prosecuted and k illed established and 
legimate authorities; substituting others according to his fancy; given 
and taken away positions of all kinds, sending everywhere em, 
misaries to seduce the public, and others to seek help from foreign 
powers. Say how much you know and pay attention to the order 
in which you arc questioned . 

ANSWERED: 

That the witness had raised forces with which he had attacked 
and faced, up to these of the King: that he hac! coined money i11 

Zacatecas and would have done it in Guanajuato if the establishment 
had been finished! which factory also produced cannons, arms and 
ammunition; that he had appointed generals and other officers, 
but this was not an exclusive prerogative of his since the Captain 
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General and the other Generals who were a long way away from 
the centre of government and the official body did the same as it 
pleased them; that he had also taken what he found in the Royal 
coffers, and various amounts from the Cathedrals in V alladolid 
and Guadalajara as well as from the Europeans as has been said, 
and from the "criollos" he took horses but with a promise of 
reimbursement to these who took his part; that he had deposed the 
established authorities if they were Europeans or "criollos" who 
would not support his party; that he had prosecuted many of them; 
but only killed the intendent of Gu.anajuato Don Antonio Reafio; 
that in the same sense he had given and taken away positions of 
all kinds: that as far as concerns emissaries he has already declared; 
and that as respect the sending of people to foreign powers he 
stated that together with Allende they sent a Don N . Letona of 
Guatemala to the United States to seek their alliance and arms. 
with full and express power to offer them free {rade since there 
was nothing else to offer them and this took place in the last month 
of December, but he did not know whether this agent arrive.d at 
his destination although he had heard he had been killed on the 
way; that he had also been heard say that afterwards, Allende 
himself had sent Don Ignacio Aldama with the same idea without 
knowing what he has declared and how he will speak about the 
facts on which he is questioned and how he will answer:." 

On Page 16, Item 23: 

ASKED: 

I f among the valuables which he had been taken from the 
churches there were jewels and hoy vessels. 

ANSWERED: 

That neither he not any other of the leading men of the 
"Insurgents", as far as he knew, had taken any jewels or sacred 
vessels fr:om the churches. 

Item. 24 

ASKED: 

With what right and by what authority did the witness take 
valuables from the churches; under what conditions was it done 
and what was the way in which it was done. 
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4NSWER.ED: 

That he did not consider with any more right and authority 
that by which he took the rest from individuals and that it has 
been answered to question twenty one. As far as the mrdhod was 
ccncemed he did no mere than pass an order to the councils and 
he did not remember if the order was verbal in V alladolid to 
declare the valuables they had and that they would be repaid from 
the National Funds. In this way they took, with no more formal~ 
ities, an amount he did not remember from the church in Valla~ 
dolid but Don Juan Aldama should know as he was commissioned 
to take it. From Guadalajara some fifty six thousand pesos were 
taken by the commissioner, a certain Avendano from Sonora, who 

was named "oidor" (Special judge) for the matter, and in the 

same way seventy thousand pesos from the Office of Wills. 

The research begins to yield results! We read with great interest the reply 

of the priest Hidalgo to Item 6a, " .. . that he had struck money in Zacatecas ... " 

which we knew nothing about, and that, " .. . they would have done so in 

Guanajuato if the proyected insta ll at ion had been completed ... " Therefore, 

we were right in thinking that in the short space of three weeks it was not 

possible to erect a mint and carry out the strikling of coinage. This makes 

us think again of what Dr .. Pradeau says when he ta lks about "the first 

mint of the insurgentes in Guana juato". " ... When the Roya lists re-entered 

Guanajuato in November 25th, 1810, the installation of the newly constructed 

min t ing machinery was nearly complete ... ". That is to say, by the end of 

October they had struck perfect coins, and tw-eenty five days later, the installa­

tion was about to be comp leted! ! 

We must not forget that the priest Hidalgo said categorically; " . . . that 

money had been produced in Zacatecas . .. " 

We still have to find out, in good time, if indeed Hidalgo s truck money 

in Zacatecas, after we have investigated the striking of coinage in Vallad'Oiid 

made from silver of the church wessels for several thousand pesos. 

With th is reservation we wi ll now give the evidence of Don Juan Aldama 
who, according to Hida lgo, was the person sent to take over the valuables of 
the Cathedra l in Val ladolid. 
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DOCUMENT NUMBER 37 

THE EVIDENCE OF DON JUAN ALDAMA 

Page 71 Item 24. 

ASKED: 

If he did not, m lhe town of Valladolid, take away consider­
c?ble amounts of money belonging to the Holy Church, to Charitable 
Funds and to His Majesty. 

ANSWERED: 

He · was summoned by the Priest Hidalgo and was sent by 
him to receive in the treasury of the said Holy Church, four 
hundred and seven thousand pesos which he was to hand over 
the Treasurer of the Army. These he received in the said Cathe­
dral from a clerical gentleman and another, without any violence 
whatsoever. This is one of those things which he could not avoid 
but he was unaware from which accounts the amounts came. 

There is, therefore, not the least doubt that a great mistaKe has been 
made in stating that coins were cast f rom the Holy Vessels. 

The Holy Inquisition among the 53 charges ma~e, makes no charge about 
and does not even mention this supposed sacrilege. It is only too obvious 
that the inquisition would have done so in case such a crime had been commited. 

In order to investigate what the priest Hidalgo said in evidence that he 
had struck money in Zacate<as, we returned to Dr. Pradeau's Numismatic 
History of Mexico and on page 155 of the Spanish version and 92 of the 
English edition, we find: 

ZACATECAS PROVISIONAL MINT 

" ... It was not until the month of October, 1810, that Count de La 
Laguna, then in charge of the Zacatecas government, proceeded 
to equip a mint, which on November 14. 1810, began coining only 
silver. This mint was the most prolific of all the provisional mints, 
and the denominations struck ran from eight-reales to one-half real. 

Don Ignacio Lopez Rayon, who with the capture of General-
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zsszmo Hidalgo had become the titular head of the lnsuuection. 
entered the City of Zacatecas April 15, 181 1. Rayon ordered the 
rich mine of Qu·?bradilla, thrown open to all who chose to work 
it. and one third of the metal mined was given to the laborers 
who extracted it. With this incentive thousands toiled day and night, 
and a large amount o[ silver was thus secured, which Rayon 
caused to be coined in the Zacatecas mint. using the L. V .0. dies 
found there. General Rayon was forced to evacuate the city l\1ay 
21. II:Sll, (Pl.Xll, 1-7.) 

15 

Senor Beltran Martinez adds a note to the forflgoing which says, "( 351 ) 
Rayon did no leave Za@atecas oo this date but on May 1st ( Alaman. op. c it. 
II p. 267) . 

Bustamante o-n page 163 tells us: "Rayon stayed ll'!ss than a 
month in Zacatecas but in this short space of time he managed to 
increase his forces, clothe his soldiers, repair his arms, cast· artillery. 
construct fiue ammunition wagons and discipline his troops. At 
the same time he organized the government as well as the could. 
He coined money in order facilitate commercial activity which had 
been paralysed for lack of it. He suported the working of the rich 

· mine of Quebradilla that was in bonanza and he reconditioned the 
haciendas Bernardez and La Sauceda. . 

Later, on page 168. Bustamante describes the situation when 
the Royalist forces had reoccupied the city: ... .. Calleja agz·eed 
to the continuation to the striking of the Provisional money in 
Zacatecas . . The dies were imperfect. On them was· a group of 
mountains similar to thos~ which surround Zacatecas and with 
the letters L. V.O. standing for "Labor Vincit Omnia:" These coins 
were accepted readily as their ugly appearance was compensated 
by their heavier weight and the good fineness. Indeed among the 
many types of coins which appeared then, those of Zacatecas were 
preferred in Veracruz ~vhere a peso was worth nine reales." 

As can be .~e'en from the foregoing the name o'f Hidalgo does not appear 
anywhere as a st riker of money. Maybe it was a m istake of the Priest Hidalgo, 
although the coinage of Rayon . might have been struck by his order or indee:d 
wi th or without his . agreement. 

The greatest pr:ize of our research was that of having found in the same 
book, the following, copied word by word. 
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DOCUMENT No. 36 

A LETTER CORRECTING CERTAIN MISTAKES IN 

THE HISTORICAL A CCOUNT OF BUST A MANT E . 

Page 61. 

Se;jor Lie. D. Carlos Maria Bustamante, Casa de V. Mexico. 
(from my house) September 12, 1823. 

D ear S ir, 

On the 16th of July I sent you the following communication. 
M.s.m. In the footnotes to the eleventh letter of the Historicfll 

Picture in favor of Diego Garcia Conde you use almost at the end, 
this expression, "We wish to convey a memorial of true history to 
posterity" Basing mys.elf on this, as protection, I take the liberty 
of making two remarks to you. First, in the letter lla . (p. 5) you 
talk of a place near Zacatecas called "La Capilla de los l-Jerreros.·· 
(The Chapel of the Blacksmiths) No such place is known in the 
immediate surrotmdings of that city. There is the Santuary or 
Chapel of Senor Guerreros situated, to the south east of the 
suburbs of the city, about a league before the college of "Propaganda 
Fide" of our lady of Guadalupe (which it is wrong you call 
.. cruciferos"). There a magnificent image of Christ Crucified is 
venerated which in the opinion of father Bezanilla (Muralla Zaca~ 
tecana, lecture on April 8th note I a.) was brought by D on Alonso 
de Villa~seca along with Senor de Santa Theresa and other Holy 
Christs and images from the parish of the silver smiths in Za~ 
catecas. They have a celebrated temple a short distance away 
from the town of Purificacin, the Real and the Fresnillo mines. 
The second point is that when in the same letter (p. 8) you deal 
with the stay of General Rayon in Zacatecas and his return to Sal­
tillo, you say that there, "l-Ie coined money to ease the com­
mercial situation which was paralysed by lack of it." It is a 
complete mystery to me what General Rayon was doing in Zaca­
tecas at this time since I had been put in prison together with 
the first leaders of the fight for the American Liberty. Indeed, 
to tell the t·ruth, if these remarks mean that General Rayon decided 
on or promoted the establishment of the Mint in Zacatecas (the 
first, I understand, of the Provisional ones) then they are complete­
ly mistaken. 
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The establishment of the mint was asked fo r by the general 
mining interests through their Regional D eputy from Count San~ 
tiago de La Laguna the P rovisional Intendant {later Liutenant 
General of the Armies of America) before the entry of the f irst 
Americ;m Chief, Don R aphael 1 riarte (which took place on 
November 2, 1810). 

1.7 

The petition was shown by the Minister of the Treasury to 
the Fiscal Procurator, Don Domingo Velazquez (now the Pres­
ident of that Provintional Delegation and Provintial ad-interim 
Political Chief-} and to me, in virtue of my position as Interim 
A ssessor of the Municipality during the period of the govern~ 

ment of the afore said Count. T here were several meetings of 
the Treasury and others in order to come to the best arrangements, 
but as there were no experimented die sinkers available for engrav­
ing, Don Manuel Ramos cut the firs t die. On the obverse were 
the City Arms, rather badly done; on the reverse those of the 
King o[ Spain, but since the engraver could not manage Lions he 
stzbstituded Pomegranats. 

Don Manuel Ramos cut the first die, but since he could not manage Liens he 

substituted ,Pcmegranats. 

The first coinage from Zacatecas came out with a {inenes3 of 
.12 dinero-s ( 1,000) as no more suitable alloy was available. The 
truth of this account is the statement of proofs which I enclose, 
which was confirmed by the Secretariat of the now extinct State 
Council. You may make whatever use you care of this letter either 
including it in your admirable account or giving an extract if it 
is worthy of your attention. 
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Although this letter (including the proof which I mention in it) 
was delivered by myself to your house (and not to a mere servant 
but to somebody of the upstairs apartments) I fear it did not 
reach you, by the silence about it which I have noticed in the 
additions to the Historical Picture. It is true that as my infoz·mation 
was sent at a later date than that of the twelfth as it was written 
on the I 4th of the same month it could not have appeared in it 
because the design of the Zacatecas money was dealt with on pt-!fl~ 
6, but I do think it might not have been inopportune at least, to 
have a note in the fourteenth letter which carries the date of the 28th 
of July). There, as a break in the narrative is an extract from the 
evidence of Senor Hidalgo, and you could haue _rmt in <l remark 
calling attention to the words "That money had been struck in 
Zacatecas" unless that statement weighs more in your mind than 
the date~ on which I base my complaint. I venerate as I should the 
glorious memory of the Frrst Hero of Anahuac but I cannot do 
Less, frankly , than be suprised, and I must wonder at this mistaken 
statement, when I read in th.e Picture the statement already 
mentioned (which I had not seen before). 

"And where arc we finally? Did the generalissimo Hidalgo 
or General Rayon manufacture or strike money in Zacatecas?" 

Another could say that one of the two; but I reply definitely, 
that neither did, if by manufacturing or coining we include the 
making of the first die or establishing the coinage. When either of 
them first trod that soil for the first time the mint was already 
established, and I don't want you just to take my word for it. 
1 would refer to the file (which should be either in the Secretariat 
of the Viceroy if after my departure from Zacatecas it was decided 
to approve it, or in the Mayoralty where information can be 
gathered, certificates obtained, or compel witnesses if on.e wishes . 

. It can be said is not a work of such im_oortance, really. 
t:.Jhen the point do.zs not affect the main line of History (or rather 
the main lines of it) . I would, however, reply to this that it would 
have been all the same to mention the complaint which had been 
presented, and to which I swear there was reason. I pray you, 
therefore, to give consideration to this letter, (the justification 
for· which I gave in my previous one). Because it would be very 
extraordinary that the claim of Senor Don Diego Garcia Conde 
not to have sworn not to have taken arms against us, unless 
it is documented, should be worthy of some mention. My letters. 
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accompanied with certain proofs are neglected. Whether one. or 
the other deal with a really important historiacl matter. But in 
that. one the honor of one man is at stake; in these, the glory of 
the State of Zacatecas, in whose glories I am interested because I 
first saw the light cf day there. If you do no care to listen to me 
I will trouble you no further. I will see the newspapermen so 
that incorrect accounts will not be bequeathed to posterity, which 
at the turn of the century will become accepted as truths thanks 
to the rather negative proof of there having not been contradicted 
by any contemporary. 

Before lying down my pen, as 1 realize your numerous procupa­
tions mclst, at times natuwlly ( distract your attention, I would make 
the observation that in the twelfth lettez· ( 11) one comes across 
a palpable anachronism. There, writing of the action which Don 
Benedicta Lopez fought in the neighborhood of Xaripeo (which 
I understand was in May 1811) you make the following com­
ment. "If my pen were governed by poetical enthusiasm I would 
say that the ghost or shadow of Hidalgo, coming out frightingly 
from his tomb had Sllrrounded his H acienda of Xaripeo" But what 
shadow? when even his body couldn't do it at that time, surrounded 
as it was by the gloom of his prison. From which tomb? Unless 
you mean cell number 4 of ~he gaol of the Military Hospital of 

Chihuahua. That he was there I know so certainly because at the 

same time my cousin Lie. D. Ramon was in cell number 3 and I 
was in number 5. Sefior Hidalgo was not defrocked until the 29th 

July, put into the death cell on the 30th and executed on the 31st. 

(sic.) We ourselves were firmly convinced we should suffer the 

same fate, and I began to believe that the unforgettable Salcedo 

intended, as a grand finale, to provide the new city of Chihuahua 

with the spectacle of seeing the sacrifice of Christ between two 

thieves, the epitaph would have been that this common ill doer 

knew how to honour those of our calling. Luckily it did not turn 

out that way. My cousin was shot on the 6th of June 1812 and I 

out witted Dimas in having, at any rate saved my life As. I was 

in the cell to the right) . 

I would earnestly have you believe that my pen is not gtlided 
by any spirit of rivalry or competition. Imagination would have 

19 
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to be very petty if, not being capable of producing an original 
work, it contents itself with biting those of others. I attempt what 
is most difficult, that is, to wl"ite with certainty. The facility of 
cz·iticising the works of some-body else is not to my taste. I said 
at the beginning, and in conclusion I would repeat, that, in view 
of the object you say you pursue which is that of trarzsmiting to 
po:;tc;:ity your recollections of History in a complete and true 
manner, I have taken the liberty to point out to you ( wher<> 
you appear to wonder from the truth) that which I know to 
be true. 

With this 1 repeat myself to be your faithful servant 
who kisses your hands. 

Lie. Mariano Joseph de Garces 

Nearly a century and a ha lf has passed by since the late Lie. Garces wrote 
this extremely interesting letter of which Bustamante did not care to take 
notice. We feel certain, from the sinceri ty with which he wrote that his only 

wishes and interests, when he wrote this letter, were the same as those which 

have guided us, at this time. These are to try and bring the facts to light in 

order to provide a t rue version for those who follow us. 

Our most grateful thanks, and those of other numismatists to Lie. Manuel 
Mariano Joseph the Garces, for the very va luable data he has provided, R.I.P. 

But we must return to our research. Lie. Garces is not the only person 
who corrects Bustamante. In the same book we have discovered another letter 
dated two years later which we must give: 

DOCUMENT No. 70 

Page 198 

"A letter to Don Carlos Maria Bustamante, in which the 

confession of Sr. Hidalgo which took place in Chihuahua is ex, 

plained. 

Sr. Lie. D. Carlos Maria Bustamante. 

Durango Oct. 28, 1825 
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My dear friend, 

I realize from your very welcome letter of the 12th why you did 
not reply inmediately to my former letters ................... . 

I saw as you asked me, Sr. iWagistral Iturribarria, and bearing 
in mind your request about the confession of Sr. Hidalgo, the 
only thing I can. say to you on the matter from what he answered 
is; that when he arrived in Chihuahua he had been, for several 
days, placed under arrest by the commanding General by orders of 
the mentioned Sr. Hidalgo ................. .. ............... . 

He also ordered me to tell you in. his name that the History 
of the State of Zacatecas to which you refer in your Historical 
Picture is not as accurate as it should be. 

It suffers from misunderstandings and, to correct these, write 
to F ranciscan Friar Galvez who will inform you about evecything, 
as he was an eye witness of all that happened. I do not doubt 
that he will put you right with his customary punctuality and thi::. 
is to advise you to do so. 

Your friend and humble servant, who kisses your hands. 
Juan Manuel Asunsolo. 

P.S. Galvez is called Friar Antonio. I send you a paper fo·r him 
so you will realize how we are here concerning our first Constitu­
tional Congress. 
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We can easily realize from the documents given above that, with very 

few exceptions, numismatics had li t t le or no interest for the historians. At 

first sight they accepted, whithout verification, the information which cam!'! 

into their hands. Some, unfortunately, allowed temselves to be governed by 

egoism, pride, and by pure unwi lligness or indifference. 

They failed to verify their ideas on numismatic events, probably because, 
according to their criteria they were not of historical importance. Nevertheless 
we have managed to be able to clear up many things. 

Guanajuato was not the first mint of the lnsurgentes because, as we have 
seen it never succeeded in producing coins. 

Neither was there any insurgent coinage in Valladolid. The pieces described 
by Orozco y Berra and later by Doctor Pradeau, illustr~ted .in his Numismatic 
History of Mexico Plate XIII No. 9 must be those of a later striking if indeed 
they are from Valladolid. 
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Zacatecas should not be considered as a mint of the lnsurgentes. It was 
established provisiona lly under the Viceroys. The Royal ist just as much as 
the Insurgents used the L.V.O. dies when they were in possesion of the city. 

Hidaigo, therefore, coined no money of any kind even if he might have 
given orders and authority to strike coins in Zacatecas, and even though he 
confessed having done so in this testimony. 

So where, when and who stablished the first minf of the lnsu rgentes? 

Havi ng now abandoned the cities of Guanajuato, Valladolid and Zacatecas, 
as well as the forces under the command of Hida lgo, Allende and others, 
who fought in what are now the States of Jalisco, Michoacan, Guanajuato and 
the other territories in the North of the coun t ry we must turn our eyes to 
the South. There we find two possible candidates - The Generalissimo Jose 
Marfa Morelos y Pavon, priest of Caracuaro and the lawyer Ignacio Rayon, 
the head of the Supreme Congress of the Government of America. 

General Morelos was a man of action very disposed to fight ·if needed. 

He had the gift of leadership and of inspiring confidence in his followers. 
Since he had received instruct ions directly from the Priest Hidalgo, he fe lt 

he had sufficient author.ity to decide for himself what should be done. This 

is revealed by a letter he wrote to the lawyer Rayon, dated in Tixt la (State 

of Guerrero) on the 12th August 1811 which we copy from a book published 

in Cuernavaca, State of Morelos, in 189], entitled " The coinage of the Insurgent 

Genera l Jose Maria Morelos," This was a numismatic essay of Dr. Nicolas 

Leon who translated, and includes, in it, the pamphlet of Lyman Hayes Low 

published in New York in 1886. 

From page four we have, word for word: 

"24 Finding myself helpless, he says, as the Treasury owed 
several thousands as a result of the consumption of such a large 
{orce, I have decided to s trike copper as a promise to pay, as in this 
way the poor and the rich will lend to us. This I did by issuing a 
proclamation to the army suppliers of the province of T ecpan that 
nobody should refuse it and that it should he accepted at its face 
value in the markets. This proclamation I also send to your 
Excellency, asking you to be so good as to publish it in convenient 
places as it would be sound policy to have this coinage accepted by 
the commerce of other provinces." 
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Dr. Leon adds, "This did happen". 

''25 I wanted to take this step in agreement with Senor Hi­
dalgo·, but he only replied on the 16th of December last, fL'om 
Guadalajara, that I should borrow from or draw on the N a tiona[ 
Treasury for any amount. But since, up to now. I have not been 
able to find any solvent persons who would make loans big enough 
to satisfy the wants of the troops. I have struck copper pieces from 
half a real up to one peso, excluding "tostones" (4 reales) of no 
intrinsic value, to the benefit of poor and rich alike and it seem:;; 
as though we have been greatly helped". 
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Next we give, word for word, the text of the proclamation of Morelos 
mentior.ed above. 

"Don Jose Maria Morelos, General [or the conquest of the 
South. by Agreement of the gentlemen of the Congreso N acional 
Americana (National American Congress) Don Miguel Hidalgo, 
and Don Ignacio Allende, etc., etc. 

''As I feel it is my duty to provide that as far as possible 
nothing should be laclcing for the development of our forces and 
since there is no nonnal currency in silver or gold for payment of 
the twops, I have decided by a decree of this very day, in the city 
of ·Nuestra Sra. de Guadalupe, in the province of Tecpan to strike 
copper money for general commercial use as orders to pay, which 
will be honored by the National Treasury once the conquest is 
completed. It might even be before if there are sufficient "reales" 
of silver or gold which should not be ditficult as minerals are 
now being worked, and as the money we have surcharged or 
to be surcharged we shall not allow to leave this realm for any 
other. 

" In order that this co:)pr~r ccinage should have the same 
value as those of siluer or gold, it will be guaranteed by the N a­
tiona/ Treasury, In this pa.rt of the South the coinage should have 
the following characteristics$ in size a little bigger that the current 
M exican silver with a corresponding thickness. The inscription on 
one side shall be a bow and arrow w!th an inscription below 
indicating the corresponding wind which is the South. The other 
side will carry an inscription a continuos design of M. 0. and S., 
as abreviation of the u..'or.d of Morelos; M, and above this, the 
value of the coin w~re it Peso, Toston, Peseta, Rea[ or Medio." 
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And in order that the National T reasury, shall not be Liable for 
amounts which have not been struck, a special book will be opened 
which will record individually the lots which are struck in the 
Treasuries who will provide details. Therefore nobody can, without 
my permission or that of the National Congress strike similar or dif~ 
ferent money under penalty of a fine of double the amount coined 
payable in gold or silver. In case the offender has not the money to 
pay the fine he shall be condemned to imprisonment until all the 
mentioned copper coin shall be recovered. 

And since this coinage is a charge, in the same way as a sight 
draft payable by our National TreaSllry at the time anyone present 
it, it should be considered as of the same value as if it were of gold 
or silver, and be used for all dealings and contracts of purchasr.s, 
SDles, promises to pay, drafts, collections and payments throughout 
this Kingdom, just as the Mexican coinage has, and is accepted. 

And in order that this shall come into force, striking of the 
said coinage will start in the Treasury of the aforesaid Capital 
and will continue in others, should it be necessary, of which due 

t~otice will be given to the public, And that there should be no 

mistal.ing them for the "cuartos" or "clacos" of the shops I order 

that the owners of them should recover all these of copper which 

their true value would be given in silver reales to all who bring 

them in. For the present only those ·· clacos" of wood will continue 

to circulate in the shops as has been the custom in many places 

of this Kingdom for the convenience of the poor and in order to 

prevent frauds, the shopkeeper must obtain a license from thi:J 
authority for the amount of "clacos" they wish to issue, which 

will be granted for a low fee for the benefit of the troops, in 

proportion to the amount they wish to issue. 

And in. order that everybody should be advised and that 
nobody can allege ignorance I order that this step should be 
published by proclamation in this canton and in the remaining 
places of the Province of Teipan and the others in the South. 
Given in the Headquarters in T ixtla on the nineteenth day of the 
month of July of one thousand eight hundred and eleven.-Jose 
Ma. Morelos, General of the South, By order of J-lis Excellency. 
Felix Ortiz". 
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This proclamation is included in Suplement No. 2 of the Scientific Society 

"Antonio Alzate" published in this capital city in 1901 . Fortunately for us 

Dr. Leon was interested in the coinage of money carried out by Morelos 

and bequeathed us the two works from which we have taken the previous 

documents. 

There cannot be any doubt but that Morelos was the first Insurgent who 

actually coined money. There must have been many difficulties to start with, 

as coins of 1811 are scare, particu!ary the 8 Reales. 

Don Manuel Orozco y Berra in his work, "The coinage of Mexico" says: 

"The coinage of More los of 1811 (quite rare) ... ", Senor Low only reports 

one example in silver, and Dr. Leon mentions that he has only seen one example 

in copper. 

Neverthless the moneyers of More los must . have learned their jobs fairly 

quickly since this copper coinage is the most plentiful, especially those dated 

1812 and 1813, of all the "Insurgent" issue. 

Dealing with the place where the f irst "Insurgent Mint" was established; 

Dr. Pradeau on page 166 of the Spanish translation and Page 100 of the 

English version, says : 

·· .. . It was at Tixtla, where, according to the diary of Captain Don 
Felipe Benecio Montero, "thought was given to money, and as 
there was a scarcity of funds, the General decided to .coin copper 
as sort of promissory currency which was to circulate until the 
nation could z·edeenz it . .. " 

We should mention that capta in Montero says, "It was in Tixtla where 

thought was given to money"; but he doesn't say that it was minted. On the 

other hand, the "Proclamation" of Morelos says clearly : " ... I have decided, 

today, by decree, that copper coins shall be struck in the city of Our Lady 

of Guadalupe in the p rovince of Teipan ... " and later, " . .. and to carry this 
out, the s triking of the copper coinage will be started in the Treasury of the 
mentioned Capital and will be continued in o ther places if necessary . .. " which, 
as we know, was done in innumerable pl aces. 

Refering to the locality o fthe first coining, Dr . Leon on page 30 of his 
essay tells us : 



26 MIGUEL L. MUNOZ 

" / t is rather a guess, without precise document to locali;;;e 
the first place or the principal place of the M orelos coinage. T he 
mere facts of having found coins in the state of Guerrero (Chil­
pancingo) to which Senor Bastow refers and the place where this 
happened does not permit one to assume what he does, which is 
that C hil_oancingo or T ixtla were the places where striking tlze 
Morelos coinage was started. W e believe, basing ourselves on the 
letter of M orelos to Rayon that it would be more logical to 
consider T ecpan as the cradle of this work." 

Very l1 kely one of the first coins minted by Priest Jose Ma. Morelos. 

The fo regoing was publ ished by Dr . Leon in 1897. Possib ly he had not 
then seen the Proclamation of Morelos which he himself published in 1901 or 
su rely he would have mentioned it. We ourselves, however, are of the same 
opinion as Dr. Le6n. Why? We prefer to answer this quest ion wi th the decree 
of General Morelos, taken from Edmundo O'Gorman's book. "Historia de las 
Divisiones Territoriales de Mexico" (History of the Mexican Territorial Divi­
sions) page 33. 

O'Gorman writes, "As an historica: curiosity I give below the Decree 
which created the Province of Tecpan." 

··By virtude of my powers for the reform of the Province of 
Zacatula I have decided by decree on this date to issue the follow­
ing decision: 

First : Recognismg the worth of the village of Tecpan which 
has born the b~zrden of the conquest of this province, its larger 
population and its geometrical size, as it can handle many sea 
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going ships; I have decided to make it a City. giving it on this 
date the name of .Ntra . Sra. de Guadalupe (Our Lady of Guada­
lupe) which will be done with the first council, but meantime we 
only announce for the knowledge of the villages and places of 
this providence that they should consider the said City as head of 
it. particulary and specially because of the guarding of the ports . 

. 3a. Although all the Kingdom is interested in its defense, the 
boundary line should be the river Z acatula which is called the Balsas 
on the West_ and on the North the upper reaches of the same river 
for a distance of four leagues amo-ng which there' is Cusamalfl. 
and from there to the East the villages of Totozintla, Tlacozoti­
tlim; the south east should be in the straight line of the Palizada, 
the gateway to the sea, which has causesd a lot of work in the 
actual Ct'nquest, lying inside of it, T ixtla, Chilapa and other places 
which we have conquered up to the present moment. All of which 
places will acknowledge as the center of the province and as the 
capital the aforesaid City of Ntra. Sra. de Guadalupe in both, its 
political and economic government as well as in the democratic 
and aristocratic. etc . .. " 

Coins like these wero minted at Tecpan ; the first Min t of the Insurgents. 
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It shou ld be mentioned that the insurgents province of Tecpan comprised 
a large part of what is now the State of Guerrero as well as a part of the 
State of Morelos. The City of Ntra. Sra. de Guadalupe, capital of the "lnsur­
gente" province is now known as Tecpan de Galeana, capital of the district 
of Galeana. It is situated, more or less, half way between Acapulco and Zi­
huatanejo. 

It will be seen, from the aforementioned decree, that More los was very 
interested in making Tecpan a great capital city and the end of the same 
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decree says that Tixtla as well as Chilapa and all the other settlements in 

general "will recognize it as the centre of the province and its capital . . . as 

well as the political and economic capital." 

In the General Archives of the Nation, Operaciones de Guerra (Operations 

of War) vol. 561 pp. 170/171 there is a comunication in which general Mo­

relos gives the seven reason he had for founding the province of Tecpan, and 

converting the town of that name to the capital city. We give the seventh 

and last, word by word : 

" . . . because she made the foundations which held the prov­

ince, providing reales and men to win the first victories of the 

various battles just as the who·le province did to gain that of 

Oaxaca and large parts of Veracruz, Puebla and Mexico . .. " 

The list of reason ends with following: 

"NOTICE. Every american, in good standing, who wishes 

to inhabit the new city of Chilpancingo or the beautiful villages 

of Tixtla and Chilapa, will be provided a house and farm land 

and the scrme will b.e true for the city of the Kings of this port of 
Acapulco." 

From the foregoing it will be seen that Morelos chose Tecpan, not only 

as a thank offering and a preference, but a lso because of "its larger popula­

tion, and geometrical layout ... " and that he could not have chosen Tixtla 

or the new city of Chilpa,ncingo precisely because these places had a lower 

population and commercial importance, etc. 

As far as our other candidate, Bustaman te says the following on page 233 

of his book. 
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Cuadro Hist6rico (Historiacl Picture) ''After the actions 
at Torre and Empararw the lawyer Don Ignacio R.ay6n 
considered seriously the future of the Nat ion which up to then 
had no head. For this purpose, therefore, he summonded a council 
of the principal men in the neighborhood of Zitacuaro which as~ 
sembiy he made as widely representative as _rJossible. The funta 
then freely named three individuals who were invested with the 
command in the name of the Mexican Nation. These were men­
tioned R.ay6n, Don Jose M aria Liceaga and the priest of Tusantla 
Dn. ]. fose Sixto Verduzco. Afterwards the same Junta ( councilj 
named D. fose M aria Morelos, priest of Nacupetaro and Can!­
cuaro in the bishopric of Michoacim." 

?9 

After the Junta was expelled from Zit<kuaro as a result of the attack of 
Calleja on it on January 2, 1812 it began to wander and Tlalchapa succeded 
Sultepec as its Seat. It was in this town that the following decree was issued: 

The Supreme American Governing Congress, in the name of 

Don Fernando VII , etc. As it is in the National interest in order to 
achieve independence, to prevent Europeans from extracting their 
wealth during the war, and since we must provide from the Ameri­
c-ans .{Mexica11s) a large monetary turnover, be put i11to 
circulation, which shall be struck bearing an eagle, cactus, bow 
and arrow and sling in the hope that this measure, a child of the 
burning zeal which we have for the public benefit will help at the 
same time to distinguish by its circulation, the real patriots among 
the rebels. 

Therefore, whilst permitting for the time begin the circulation 
of Mexican money, we shall issue the national coinage we have 
described, and we order all Americans (Mexicans) to accept 
it with the warning that those who do not, will incur a fine of two 
hundred pesos which will be strictly enforced, whilst in a case of 
insolvency any punishment deemed appropiate by law. And that 
in order this matter should come to everybody's notice, we 
order its publication by proclamation in all the capitals, cities, 
towns and villa!)es of our dcminions by posting it on the usual 
walls. 
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Vignette of the arms adopted by tha "Jun· 
ta" of Zitacuaro" in August, 1 & 11 Precise 

copy made by Sr. Ruben lopez R. copied 

from documents in the National Archives 

of Mexico. 

Given in the National Palace of Tlalchapa, January 23rd 1812. 
Lie. Ignacio Rayon, Dr. Jose Sixto Verduzco, Jose Maria Liceaga. 

By order of S. M. R emigio de Yarza, Secretary 
(National Archives ~ Operations of War v. 933 p. 116) 

We should mention that in each place where Ray6n was stationed he 
never ommitted to mention the National Palace in the revolutionary edicts 
he issued, even though the President and his collaborators often did business 
in mud huts. With this the idea that there was an autonomous Government, 
with no f ixed seat but still in existence, was published. 

In this important proclamat ion the national local symbols of Eagle 
and Cactus stand out in t he "lnsurgentes" coinage as a declaration of war 
against that of the trad itiona l Roya list with the " Plus Ultra". 

By the end of the same year 1812, Ray6n had established a m int in 
Tlalpujahua, M.ichoacan, a town on the borders of what is now the Stare of 
Mexic.:::>, as we realize from t he letter which Morelos sent to Don Ignacio 

Ray6n wh ich we copy bell ow : 

Most Excellent Sir With the dispatch of Y. E. of the 
30th of this November I received "tees pesos" of various coins of 
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Vignette of the central part of the seal 
used by Don Jose Sixto Berdusco, member 

of the "Junta de Zitacuaro". The same 
design_ was used for the coins minted by 

said " Junta" (council). 

Eight Real coin of tho " Junta de Zitacuaro" with the legends, on the 

obverse: " Fe rdin. VII - Dei Gratia- 1811 BR - " on the reverse: 

" Provicional por Ia Suprema Junta de America" ( Numismatic History 
o~ Mexico, Plate XVII, by Dr. A. F. Pradeau ). 

the National Mint which Y. E. has set up in Tlalpujahua.. The 
finish is quite good but they are light in weight and since there 
has been such a lot of forgeries I understand they will lose their 
value if you do not give the full weight of an ounce to the peso 
which is a guarantee that the bad ones do not come to be valued 
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as half pesos. I send to Y. E. three pesos of the Provisional issue 
of the South, which for easy were cast for the "Jura" as we did 
not have more than six days to produce them. I have based myself 
on this method of production in order that I am not swamped by 
other coinage. Among the three pesos is a Provisional one of 
Oaxaca which I found when we took over, since for more than 
a year coins have ; not come from the Mexico mint. I have tried 
to do all possible that one and all should be of an ounce, insist~ 

ing that the Provisional (issue) of the South should continue be, 
cause of its greater quantity. 

God preserve Y. E. for many years. General Headquarters 
Die. 29. 1812. 

Jose M aria Morelos 

to H. E. President Don Ignacio Rayon. 

This most interesting letter was discovered by Dr. Pradeau, who in 
addition, on page 169 of his Numismatic History says the following about 
it "Unpublished, but with the autograph of Morelos it was preserved with other 
letters from him by Don Carlos Ma. Bustamante. They are bound in vol 4 
of the Section of MSS. Lafragu a in the Libary of the State of Puebla." 

As will be rea lised from this document, the coinage of Rayon or of the 
Council, afterwards, the Supreme National Council was later than the coinage 
of General Morelos (Q. E. D.). 

It also shows what the Priest More los was an experienced coiner. He 
talks about the finish, weight and size of the coins as well as of forgers as 
a man who has had a lot of experience in these matters, meanwh ile Rayon was 
just beginning his first coinage. 

It is very true that there are coins of the Counc il dated in 1811. We must 
however say that many are absolutely fa lse; indeed, in the opinion of expert 
numismatists few can be considered genuine. 

How then were they dated 1811 when the previous letter is of the end 
of 1812? No document is known which proves that that these coins were 
actually struck in 181 1. It is therefore, our opinion, until the con trary is 
proved, th at the Council may very well have had the dies and other prepara· 
t ions ready to strike coins in Zit<kuaro, but, due to the unexpected attack 
of Calleja on January 2nd 1812 the Insurgents had no time to use them: Their 
sudden flight soon turned into a pilgrimage. Months later, when the Insurgents 
managed to get a little rest in Tlalpujahua they could have used the d ies dated 
1811. 



MIGUEL L. MUNOZ 

There is other point which speaks in favor of the Priest Morelos and 
we do not know whether is has been appreciated, for although it is of very 
small importance numismatically it is of great importance economicc1f!y, 
Before Morelos struck his coins absolutely all the money in Mexico was va lued 
and accepted at the value of the meta~ic content, tha t is by the intrinsic 
value, which lead to its being accepted all over the world. 1 t was More los 
who struck the first coinage with a face value much higher than that of the 
metal content. In other words, the coinage of Morelos was the first f iduciary 

issue of Mexico. 

In conclusion we would like to say that we have preferred to copy, word 
for word, the historical documents and letters of the various authors, giving 
references by which they can be read and studied by any body who cares to 
verify the facts mentioned. The only purpose of the author has been that of 
correcting numismat ic errors which have persisted for over a century and 
a half which up to now had been accepted as facts, even though they were 
not, by all writers. In view of what has been exposed we can definitely state 

that: 

The First Mint of the Insurgents: was in Tecpan, Gro., and that it was 
established in July 1811 by the Generalissimo Jos Maria Morelos. Priest of 
Cuaracuaro who earned for himself the title of Servant of the Country. 
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